1980

State of Utah v. Edward G. Robichaux : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction of theft in the Third Judicial District Court.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

In a jury trial before the Honorable Peter F. Leary, Third District Court, Appellant was convicted of the charge of theft.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant prays that the conviction entered in the Third District Court be reversed, that this matter be remanded to the Third District Court for new trial.

FACTS

Appellant entered into a business arrangement with Complainant, David Felger, and several other individuals where real property was to be bought and sold by a business entity they created. In order to facilitate the plans of the company, financing needed to be acquired. At the point in time that these transactions were taking place, money was not generally available within local lending facilities. Appellant made arrangements with a local lending institution to make loans on a project the parties were involved in. Complainant David Felger testified that he provided the sum

of \$11,700.00 to Appellant for the purpose of paying spread money to attract monies from New York to the local banking institution in order to allow the loan, being negotiated by the parties, to be made. Complainant charges that Defendant, instead of using the money for the intended purpose, converted it for his own use.

Defendant testified that he, in fact, received the money from Complainant but that prior to receiving the money he had advised Complainant that the money would not be necessary for spread money and testified that Complainant agreed that the money could be used to offset personal expenses of the Appellant in continuing to work for the parties. Defendant testified that it was intended, at all times, that David Felger would get his money back when the company received it's loans.

For reasons not related to the conduct of either Complainant or Appellant, the loan for the project was never approved and the outside financing was never acquired. A portion of the monies received by the Appellant were returned to the Complainant.

I.

THE COURT INSTRUCTION THAT "THE LAW PRESUMES THAT A PERSON INTENDS THE REASONABLE AND ORDINARY CONSEQUENCES OF HIS OWN ACTS" REVERSED THE BURDEN OF PROOF FROM THE PLAINTIFF TO THE DEFENDANT AND, ACCORDINGLY, WAS A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS TO THE DEFENDANT.

In the trial of the above matter, Defendant's receipt and use of the money was never a question. The issue is

whether the receipt was with felonious intent. On the issue of intent, the Court instructed the jury over the objection of Defendant as follows:

Intent or purpose, being a state of mind, is not always susceptible of proof by direct and positive evidence and must ordinarily be inferred from acts, conduct, statements, and circumstances. The law presumes that a person intends the reasonable and ordinary consequences of his acts. However, this presumption is a rebuttable presumption and may be overcome by evidence to the contrary.

Utah law, consistent with Federal due process requirements creates a presumption of innocence and requires that each and every element of any offense be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Within the elements of the crime necessary for proof beyond a reasonable doubt, the culpable mental state is specifically included. UCA 76-1-501(2)(b), In re Winship 397 US 358, 25 L Ed 2d 368, 90 S Ct. 1068, (1970).

It was then clearly the burden of the State to prove the culpable mental state of Appellant. An important part of this proof was drawn from the Court's presumption, built on Appellant's receipt and use of the money.¹

But this is not to say all inferences are infirm. The legislature has provided an inference of knowledge of stolen property in the face of recent possession and no good explanation, UCA 76-6-402, but in this instance, no reversal of

1. The presumption used by the Court in the instant case is not one codified by the legislature and, accordingly, represents no burden the legislature has seen fit to place upon Defendants. The legislature, rather, under UCA 76-1-501, seems comfortable to leave the burden for proving culpable mental state on the shoulders of the State.

burden is provided as the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant's explanation is not reasonable.

State v. Wood, 268 P.2d 998.

If the presumption is merely a permissive inference which does not require a finding of the elemental fact upon proof of the fact, but rather serves as evidence of its existence and proof, no added burden has been placed upon the Defendant. Ulster County Court v. Allen, ___ US ___, 60 L Ed 2d 777, 99 S Ct. ___ (1979). In ULSTER, Defendants were convicted of possession of a firearm when they were found riding in the same automobile with a young lady whose open purse contained two firearms in plain view. The Court, in that case, instructed the jury that it was entitled to infer possession from the Defendant's presence in the car where the guns were found. In upholding the conviction, the Court stated:

The trial court instructions make it clear that the presumption was merely a part of the prosecution's case; that it gave rise to a permissive inference available only in certain circumstances rather than a mandatory conclusion of possession and that it could be ignored by the jury even if there was no affirmative proof offered by Defendants in rebuttal. Id. US ___, 60 L Ed 2d 777, 794.

Accordingly, in determining whether the instruction given in the instant case meets constitutional muster, the nature of the presumption must be determined. In making this determination, it is necessary to look at the actual words spoken and how a reasonable juror could have interpreted the instructions. Sandstrom v. Montana, ___ US ___, 61 L Ed 2d

39, 99 S Ct. ___, (1979). In SANDSTROM, the Court dealt with an instruction similar to that given in the instant case but ending short with: "The law presumes that a person intends the ordinary consequences of his voluntary acts." Id., US ___, 61 L Ed 2d 39, 43. In concluding that that instruction failed to meet constitutional requirements of due process, the Court determined that:

"The challenged jury instruction had the effect of releasing the State of the burden of proof enunciated in WINSHIP on the critical question of petitioners state of mind." Id. US ___, 61 L Ed 2d, 39, 49.

The instant presumption, however, does not go so far as to be conclusive, but allows the Defendant to overcome and rebut the presumption by offering affirmative evidence. If the presumption was clearly mandatory, there would be no question of it's unconstitutionality. However, where some latitude is granted to the jury, the decision of constitutionality must rest upon whether the presumption creates merely an inference, which may be overcome by any amount of evidence presented by the Defendant, or one that shifts the burden to the Defendant to prove his lack of guilty state of mind. Id. And, as established in SANDSTROM, the test is neither the statutory intent, with respect to such presumptions, nor the intent of the judge but whether a reasonable juror could have interpreted this instruction to place a burden upon the Defendant.

In the instant case, the acts of the Defendant re-

sulted in the Complainant losing possession of at least a portion of money. The only real issue litigated in the case was whether the Complainant's loss was as a result of Appellant's intent to deprive him of the money. The consequence of the acts of the Appellant stands for a presumption of intent to deprive under the instruction given by the Court. Following the instruction, the jury would then look to Appellant to rebut and overcome this evidence in order to prove his innocence. The ordinary and probability reading of these words by any juror is not the inference of ULSTER; one that could be ignored by the jury even if there was no affirmative proof offered by the Defendant in rebuttal. The Court's instruction does not even tell the jury that the production of any evidence by the Defendant would overcome the presumption. This interpretation was argued by the State of Montana in SANDSTROM and found by the Court to be not the logical, let alone the possible interpretation in this case. In fact, one would wonder if such an instruction could have any meaning under such an interpretation when some evidence had, in fact, been advanced, as in the instant case.

It is far more logical and certainly possible that the reasonable juror, faced with this instruction, would attempt to weigh the evidence presented by the defendant to determine if that evidence is sufficient to overcome the presumption of guilt established by the ordinary consequences of his act.

Once the jury, or even one juror looks to the Defendant to prove his state of mind, based only on his performance of the acts alleged, the State has been relieved of it's burden to prove culpable mental state beyond a reasonable doubt.

SANDSTROM does not require a showing that the jury or a juror actually made this interpretation, only that one or more reasonably could have made such an interpretation. There is more than a possibility that one or more jurors shifted the burden of proof to Appellant, relying on this instruction. Accordingly, the instruction was improper and the matter should be remanded for new trial.

II.

THE COURT ERRORED IN PROVIDING AN INSTRUCTION ON DEFINITION OF THE TERM "KNOWINGLY" IN CONJUNCTION WITH INTENT AND PURPOSE.

In the instant case, a part of it's Instruction No. 6. over objection of the Defendant, the Court included the following:

In a case such as this, under the law, no person is guilty of an offense unless his conduct is prohibited by law and he acts intentionally or knowingly. A person acts intentionally under the law, either with respect to the nature of his conduct or to the results of his conduct, when it is that persons conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result. A person acts knowingly when he is aware of the nature of his conduct or the existing circumstances or that his conduct is reasonably certain to cause the result.

Appellant was charged under Utah Code Annotated, 76-6-404 with the crime of theft. The language of that section re-

quires "a purpose to deprive", calling for a specific culpable mental state known as specific intent. This standard requires a conscious purpose, not constructive intent, resulting from any degree of recklessness or knowledge of possible danger to the Complainant.

But in it's instruction, the Court required, not a finding that the Appellant engaged in conduct which deprived the Complainant of his property intentionally, but alternately, knowingly. This, of itself, might not have been so bad except the instruction of knowingly further establishes culpability if the Appellant's conduct is reasonably certain to cause the result. The result, in this case, being the loss of property to the Complainant. In many cases and situations, this may present no problem, but in the instant case where the conduct of the Appellant may well be determined by a jury to have been reckless and in opposition to the best interests of the Complainant, logically leading to the deprivation of his property. There is a great risk that the requirement for proof of intent may have been watered down. Appellant was not charged with the crime of reckless loss of Complainant's money, but may well have been convicted of such a non-crime based on the instruction complained of herein.