1980

## State of Utah v. Edward G. Robichaux : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant was charged with one count of theft in violation of Utah Code Ann. Section 76-6-404 (1953), as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried before a jury and found guilty on August 6, 1979, in Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Peter F. Leary, presiding. The Trial Court sentenced appellant to an indeterminate term of not less than one nor more than fifteen years in the Utah State Prison. The appellant was granted a stay of execution of the sentence upon the

condition that he serve ninety days in the Salt Lake County Jail and pay restitution to the complainant in an amount to be determined by the Department of Adult Probation and Parole. The execution of the ninety-day jail sentence was suspended, pending the outcome of this appeal.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent seeks an order of this Court, affirming the judgment of the jury at trial and the sentence of the Trial Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the summer of 1975, the appellant, Dave Felger, and three other men, formed North American Financial Corporation. One of the projects of the corporation was a real estate development called Foxbridge. Appellant's chief responsibility in the corporation was to obtain funding for Foxbridge. (T.226) Appellant approached Deseret Federal Savings and Loan about obtaining a loan. (T.182) to the tight money market, appellant had, on previous occasions, obtained certificates of deposit (hereinafter CD's) which were placed in lending institutions to encourage them to make loans. (T.182-83) Appellant represented to Felger that it would be necessary to obtain CD's to get funding for Foxbridge. (T.126-27)

Accordingly, on September 3, 1975, Felger obtained a second mortgage on a home he owned. (T.125) A Cashier's Check for \$11,700 was made payable to the appellant. (T.126) Appellant told Felger he would be repaid out of the appellant's fee when funding for Foxbridge was obtained. (T.128, 161) On the same day, appellant Felger and Ed Eldredge drove to Zions First National Bank in downtown Salt Lake City where appellant was to transfer \$11,700 to a New York City bank, which would dispense certificates of deposit to be placed with Deseret Federal Savings and Loan. (T.127, 170) Appellant and Eldredge entered the bank while Felger waited in the car. (T.129) Upon returning to the car, appellant told Felger "everything was taken care of." (T.130)

On September 3, 1975, appellant opened a personal account with an initial deposit of \$11,000 (State's Exhibit 11-P) and obtained \$700 in cash (Exhibit 12-P). On that same day, he gave Eldredge a check for \$4,680 from the account. (T.172, Exhibit 13-P) Within two weeks, appellant had expended nearly \$11,000 from the account. (Exhibits 13-P through 18-P)

No certificates of deposit were obtained for placement with Deseret Federal Savings and Loan. (T.175) No

funding was received through that bank, and Felger has not recovered any of the \$11,700 given to appellant. (T.131) North American Financial Corporation subsequently dissolved, and the funding for Foxbridge was obtained through another source. (T.232)

The trial judge instructed the jury on all elements of the crime of theft. He further instructed the jury that, since intent is not always susceptible of direct proof, it must ordinarily be inferred from acts, conduct, statements and circumstances. Accordingly, the Court stated the law presumes a person intends the reasonable and ordinary consequences of his own acts. The Court added that this presumption could be overcome by evidence to the contrary. The Trial Court further instructed that no person could be found guilty of an offense unless his conduct was prohibited by law and he acted intentionally or knowingly.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

IT WAS PROPER TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THE LAW PRESUMES A PERSON INTENDS THE REASONABLE AND ORDINARY CONSEQUENCES OF HIS ACTS.

It is well established that the prosecution in a criminal case has the burden of proving all elements of

the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden was reaffirmed by the United States Supreme Court in In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970), as follows:

Lest there be any doubt about the constitutional stature of the reasonable doubt standard, we explicitly hold that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.

397 U.S. at 364. Accordingly, the only burden placed upon the defendant in any criminal case is to present evidence sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt about his guilt in the minds of the jurors. Commenting upon the weight of evidence required to raise a defense, this Court observed:

... it is to be kept in mind that the burden of proving the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt is always upon the state both initially and ultimately. Therefore, the only requirement on the defense ... is that it be sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt.

State v. Curtis, 542 P.2d 744, 746 (Utah 1975).

The principal issue in the present case was whether the appellant acted with the requisite intent to be guilty of theft. In order to prove intent, the State was required to show appellant had the "purpose to permanently deprive another of his property." The appellant



objects to a portion of Jury Instruction No. 6, which reads:

Intent or purpose, being a state of mind, is not always susceptible of proof by direct and positive evidence and must ordinarily be inferred from acts, conduct, statements and circumstances. The law presumes that a person intends the reasonable and ordinary circumstances of his own acts. However, this presumption is a rebuttable presumption and may be overcome by evidence to the contrary.

Appellant contends that this language could be interpreted by the jury as requiring the defense to prove absence of intent. Thus, the appellant claims this instruction relieved the prosecution from the burden of proving all elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt in violation of due process guarantees. Respondent rejects the contention and asserts that the instruction was proper.

This Court recognized the value of making reasonable inferences from proven facts in State v. Peterson, 22 Utah 2d 377, 453 P.2d 696 (1969). The defendant in that case was convicted of assault with a deadly weapon with intent to do bodily harm. On appeal, defendant contended that the intent to do bodily injury was not sufficiently established by the proven fact that defendant made a slashing motion

toward his victim with a hunting knife, injuring the victim's hand. This Court affirmed the conviction, stating:

... It is true that the State was unable to prove directly what was in the defendant's mind relative to doing harm to the victim; and that he in fact denied having any such intent. However, his version does not establish the fact, nor does it even necessarily raise sufficient doubt to vitiate the conviction. If it were so, it would lie within the power of a defendant to defeat practically any conviction which depended upon his state of mind. As against what he says, it is the jury's privilege to weigh and consider all of the other facts and circumstances shown in evidence in determining what they will believe. This includes not only what was said and what was done, but also the conduct shown, which in this instance they may well have regarded as speaking louder than the defendant's later defensive claims as to what his intentions were. This is in accord with the elementary rule that a person is presumed to intend the natural and probable consequences of his acts.

22 Utah 2d at 378, 453 P.2d at 697. (emphasis added)

Allowing the jury to make reasonable inferences from proven facts does not relieve the prosecution of its burden to prove all elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The instruction that a person intends the reasonable and ordinary consequences of his acts recognizes the fact that direct evidence of a person's intent is seldom available. As a result, intent, like any other fact, must often be

inferred from evidence of the surrounding circumstances. In the present case, the challenged instruction merely allowed the jury to reach reasonable conclusions based upon facts proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the prosecution.

It is well established that due process guarantees require a criminal conviction to be based upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all elements of the crime charged. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970). Accordingly, the ultimate test for judging the constitutional validity of a presumption is to determine whether it undermines "the factfinders' responsibility ... to find the ultimate facts beyond a reasonable doubt." County Court of Ulster City v. Allen, 99 S.Ct. 2213, 2224 (1979). The starting point in applying this test is to determine whether the presumption under review is permissive or mandatory. A mandatory presumption "tells the trier of fact that ... they must find the elemental fact based upon proof of the basic fact." 99 S.Ct. at 2224. When a permissive inference is used, the prosecution does not rest its case entirely upon the presumption but "may rely upon all of the evidence in the record to meet the reasonable doubt standard." 99 S.Ct. at 2229.

In the Ulster case, the United States Supreme Court upheld a New York statute which provided that the presence of a firearm in an automobile is presumptive evidence of its illegal possession by all persons occupying the vehicle. The jury was instructed that,

... upon proof of the presence of the machine gun and the hand weapons, you may infer and draw conclusions that such prohibitive /sic/ weapon was possessed by each of the defendants who occupied the automobile at the time such instruments were found. The presumption ... is effective only so long as there is no substantial evidence contradicting the conclusion flowing from the presumption, and the presumption is said to disappear when such contradictory evidence is adduced.

99 S.Ct. at 2227. The jury in Ulster was also instructed on the presumption of innocence, the necessity to find intent coupled with constructive possession, and the need to find all elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

99 S.Ct. at 2227. Despite the fact that the instruction called for the defendant to raise "substantial evidence" contradicting the presumed fact, the Court concluded that the inference was permissive since the jury instructions as a whole "directed the jury to consider all the circumstances tending to support or contradict the inference... ."

99 S.Ct. at 2227.

Having made this determination, the Supreme Court stated that the standard to be used in judging a permissive inference was whether,

... There is a 'rational connection' between the basic facts that the prosecution proved and the ultimate fact presumed, and the latter is 'more likely than not to flow from' the former.

99 S.Ct. at 2228.

Respondent submits the jury instruction that "a person intends the reasonable and ordinary consequences of his own acts" given in the present case created a permissive inference which did not undermine the jury's duty to find all elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Respondent further contends that this instruction satisfies the rational connection standard noted in Ulster, since, under the circumstances of this case, it is "more likely than not" that appellant's actions demonstrated his intent to deprive another of property.

Viewed as a whole, the jury instructions clearly indicated that the presumption was to be treated as a permissive inference. It is established by Utah law that jury instructions must be reviewed in context. Brunson v. Strong, 17 Utah 2d 364, 412 P.2d 451 (1966); Taylor v. Johnson, 18 Utah 2d 16,

414 P.2d 575 (1966).

The appellant, however, bases his contention upon one paragraph of one instruction which he alleges was improper and ignores the import of the instructions as a whole. The jury was carefully instructed upon the presumption of innocence, the need to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt (R.42), and the defenses available to the defendant. (R.45) Furthermore, language within the disputed instruction itself shows that the jury could not have interpreted the presumption as conclusive. First, the jury was instructed that the purpose to deprive meant to have the "conscious object to withhold property permanently, or for so extended a period that a substantial portion of its economic value ... would be lost." It is not likely that a juror could conclude appellant had the conscious object to deprive another of his property, simply because this resulted from his actions. Second, prior to directing that the law presumes a person intends the reasonable and ordinary consequences of his acts, the Court stated that intent "must ordinarily be inferred from acts, conduct, statements and circumstances." (R.43) The effect of using presume and infer interchangeably would indicate to lay

jurors that they were free to accept or reject the presumption. The Court went on to state that the presumption was rebuttable and could be overcome by evidence to the contrary. This instruction allowed the jury to reject the presumption if any evidence to the contrary was presented. This burden is no greater than the burden of creating a reasonable doubt which always rests upon the defendant. Finally, the instruction states that "no person is guilty of an offense unless ... he acts intentionally or knowingly." (R.43) These instructions, as a whole, make it improbable that the jury could find appellant intended to deprive another of property based solely on the presumption that he intended the consequences of his acts. The jury instructions in this case merely allowed the jury to make reasonable inferences about appellant's intent based upon facts presented in the State's case.

The permissive inference included in the jury instructions at issue satisfies the rational connection standard of the Ulster case, supra. Satisfaction of this standard requires a showing that the fact presumed is "more likely than not to flow from" the facts that the prosecution proved. 99 S.Ct. at 2228. In the present case, proof of appellant's acts indicates it is more likely than not he

acted with the purpose to permanently deprive another of property. First, after representing that money obtained from Felger would be used to obtain certificates of deposit (CD's) to induce the lender to make a loan, appellant placed the funds in a private account. Second, within roughly two weeks of its deposit, most of the funds had been spent for private purposes, and no CD's had been obtained. Third, appellant had not repaid any portion of the money he received from Felger. It was more likely than not that the appellant's acts would result in Felger's being deprived of his property. Thus, there is a rational connection between the facts proved and the presumption that appellant intended to deprive Felger of his property.

The appellant cites Sandstrom v. Montana, 99 S.Ct. 2450 (1979), in support of his contention that, if the disputed instruction could have been interpreted by a reasonable jury to shift the burden of persuasion to the defense, the instruction violated due process guarantees. However, the instruction reviewed in Sandstrom is significantly different from the instruction in the present case. As the Court noted in Sandstrom,



Sandstrom's jurors were told that 'the law presumes that a person intends the ordinary consequences of his voluntary acts.' They were not told that they had a choice, or that they might infer that conclusion; they were told only that the law presumed it.

The Court held that, since a reasonable juror could interpret this instruction either as a mandatory presumption or as a presumption shifting the burden of proving intent to the defense, it violated due process. 99 S.Ct. at 2459-60. However, the Court expressly stated it was not reaching the question of the validity of a presumption when the jury is instructed that it may be rebutted by evidence to the contrary. 99 S.Ct. at 2455.

The Utah Supreme Court recently reviewed the Sandstrom holding in the case of State v. Eagle, No. 16129 (Utah Sup. Ct., May 6, 1980). In that case, the Court reviewed the instruction that:

A person's state of mind is not always susceptible of proof by direct and positive evidence, and, if not, may ordinarily be inferred from acts, conduct, statements, or circumstances.

This Court concluded that, since the jurors were instructed that intent could be inferred rather than presumed, the instruction was valid. Language similar to that reviewed in

State v. Eagle, supra, was included in the disputed instruction. Regardless of the fact that the Trial Court also used language of presumption, respondent submits that the instruction would clearly indicate to jurors that they could accept or reject the presumption based upon all the evidence presented.

The jury in the present case was also instructed that it was a defense to theft if the appellant "acted in the honest belief that he had a right to obtain or exercise control over the property." Accordingly, in reaching a guilty verdict, the jury weighed evidence supporting the presumption against appellant's testimony that he had been authorized to use the funds for personal expenses. Recognizing the jury's duty as finder of fact, this Court stated in State v. Coffey, 564 P.2d 777 (Utah 1977):

... it is the responsibility of the jury to determine whether the elements of the crime have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. The court on appeal examines the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict; and if it appears that the jury acted fairly and reasonably, the judgment will not be disturbed.

564 P.2d at 778-9.

Based on the evidence offered by the State, the jury

reasonably concluded that the appellant's acts indicated his intent to deprive Dave Felger of his property.

In conclusion, the instruction that a person is presumed to intend the reasonable and ordinary consequences of his own acts did not violate due process, since it was clearly intended to be a permissible inference and not the sole basis for finding intent. This permissive inference satisfies the rational connection test given by the United States Supreme Court in the Ulster case, supra. Finally, the present instruction was not improper under the Supreme Court's recent ruling in Sandstrom v. Montana, supra.

#### POINT II

THE JURY INSTRUCTION THAT APPELLANT COULD BE FOUND GUILTY OF THEFT IF HE ACTED INTENTIONALLY OR KNOWINGLY WAS PROPERLY GIVEN.

The appellant contends the Trial Court erred by giving a jury instruction that:

In such a case as this, under the law, no person is guilty of an offense unless his conduct is prohibited by law and he acts intentionally or knowingly. A person acts intentionally under the law, either with respect to the nature of his conduct or to the result of his conduct, when it is that persons's conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result. A person acts knowingly when he is aware of the nature of his conduct or the existing circumstances or that his conduct is reasonably certain to cause the result. (R.43)

The appellant contends that, since the statutory definition of theft includes the specific intent element of purpose to deprive another of his property, the jury should not have been instructed that the appellant could be found guilty if he acted knowingly. The appellant further claims that this instruction made it possible for the jury to find appellant guilty if they concluded he engaged in reckless conduct which was reasonably certain to deprive another of his property. This instruction did not constitute error, and even if the Court had erred in giving the instruction, the error was harmless under the circumstances of this case.

The appellant was charged with theft, which is defined in Section 76-6-404 of the Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, as follows:

A person commits theft if he obtains or exercises unauthorized control over the property of another with a purpose to deprive him thereof.

The Trial Court instructed the jury on each element of the offense, defining purpose to deprive as,

... to have the conscious object to withhold property permanently or for so extended a period or to use under such circumstances that a substantial portion of its economic value, or of the use and benefit thereof, would be lost... .

The source of this definition is Utah Code Ann. Section 76-6-401 (1953), as amended. Inclusion of the statutory definition of purpose to deprive in the same instruction with the disputed language makes it impossible the jury could have found appellant guilty, based upon reckless conduct which was substantially certain to result in deprivation of another's property. In reaching a guilty verdict, it was necessary that the jury find appellant acted with the conscious object to deprive another of property. In accordance with the jury instructions, such a conclusion necessarily would be based upon a finding appellant acted at least with awareness of the nature of his conduct, knowing that it was reasonably certain to result in depriving another of property. (R.43) Thus, the conclusion that appellant had the purpose or conscious object to deprive another of property cannot, as appellant contends, rest upon a finding that he engaged in reckless conduct which was reasonably certain to result in deprivation of property. Utah Code Ann. Section 76-2-10 (1953), as amended, states that a person acts recklessly,

... when he is aware of but consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that ... the result will occur.

Acting in conscious disregard of a substantial risk does not

approach the culpability of acting with the conscious object or purpose to deprive another of property permanently, or for an extended period. Therefore, appellant's contention that the disputed instruction allowed the jury to base its verdict upon a showing of reckless conduct is without merit.

Even if the disputed instruction had been given improperly, it was a harmless error since there was ample evidence that the appellant acted with the purpose to deprive another of property. The State's evidence showed that Felger gave appellant \$11,700 for the express purpose of obtaining certificates of deposit. Appellant placed the funds in a private account and wrote checks for his personal use. No certificates of deposit were ever placed with the lender, and Felger has not been repaid. The evidence clearly shows that these acts were intended to or reasonably certain to deprive Felger of his property. The only evidence to the contrary was the appellant's testimony that he was told he could use the money for his expenses. The jury was also instructed on this theory of defense, and chose not to accept it.

This Court encountered a similar claim in State v. Kazda, 545 P.2d 190 (Utah 1976). The defendant in that case

was charged with theft of copper wire from telephone poles. The Trial Court instructed the jury that "no person is guilty of an offense unless .. he acts intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence... ."

In reviewing this instruction on appeal, this Court stated:

... we concede that we do not see the applicability of the terms 'recklessly or with criminal negligence' to the particular circumstances involved here. The critical issue of fact centered upon whether, as defendant Kazda said: There was a 'Mr. Johnson' who gave him a contract to remove the wires, or whether, as other evidence showed, that story was a fiction protective of the defendant... . The jury whose prerogative it is to choose what evidence it will believe, chose to believe that of the State. Despite defendant's brave efforts to make it appear to the contrary, we do not see how under the circumstances shown, and the other instructions given, the inclusion of the terms complained of could have been prejudicial to the defendant.

545 P.2d at 192.

In the present case, the jury also chose to accept the State's version of the evidence. The appellant presented his defense to the jury and the jury was instructed on the law regarding mistake as a defense to theft. Nevertheless, this testimony was not sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jury.

The rule regarding reversible error was stated by this Court in Ortega v. Thomas, 14 Utah 2d 296, 383 P.2d 406 (1963), as follows:

In order to justify reversal, the appellant must show error that was substantial and prejudicial in the sense there is at least a reasonable likelihood that in the absence of the error the result would have been different.

383 P.2d at 408.

For appellant to prevail on appeal, he must show that the Trial Court's instruction as to the necessary intent for the offense was such prejudicial error that "there is at least a reasonable likelihood" that, excluding such an error, the result would have been different. In view of the substantial evidence showing the relationship between the appellant's acts and the result of depriving Felger of his property, the respondent submits that any alleged error in instructing the jury was harmless.

#### CONCLUSION

The jury instruction that a person presumes the reasonable and ordinary consequences of his acts did not result in a denial of due process under recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court, since this instruction,



viewed in context, created a permissive inference which did not undermine the jury's duty to base its verdict upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all elements of the crime.

The instruction that, in order to be guilty of theft, a person must act intentionally or knowingly was properly given since the jury was adequately instructed in all elements of the crime and given statutory definitions of each element. For the foregoing reasons, the respondent urges this Court to affirm the conviction and sentence the accused.